1

Batavia’s Stone Sidewalks: A Polish Connection
Larry D. Barnes

Batavia City Historian

2015

     Recently, Batavia’s stone sidewalks have been much in the news.  As they are being replaced by concrete walks, many residents have lamented their disappearance.  However, few persons likely know anything about their local origin.  That story follows below.
     As in communities all over the country, the first sidewalks in Batavia were constructed of wood planks.  That remained the case until just before the Civil War.  The first stone sidewalks in our community were purportedly laid in 1857, beginning with a stretch in front of the Eagle Tavern, an establishment on the southeast corner of Main and Court streets.  The occasion was celebrated on Christmas Eve that year with dancing by the light of gas street lamps.  It may be difficult to imagine how stone sidewalks could have generated enough excitement to warrant dancing in the street, but that’s probably because it is difficult to place ourselves in the context of life in small-town America during the 1850s.
     The individual who appears to have spearheaded these stone sidewalks and those that followed in our town seems in retrospect to have been himself an unlikely individual.  He was Major Henry I. Glowacki, a Polish immigrant.

     Henry Ignace Glowacki was born in Poland in 1816.  He was of noble heritage and, thus, was destined by the nature of his birth for a position of leadership.  As was apparently customary for a son born into these circumstances, Henry’s parents sent him to a military school where he studied the science of warfare.  While still a teenager, he became a major in the Polish military, a title by which he was thereafter known for the rest of his life. 

     Soon, unexpected events dramatically changed the expected course of Glowacki’s life.  Around 1830, he participated in an unsuccessful rebellion against the Russians who then occupied Poland.  He subsequently wound up in exile and, a few years later, in 1833 or 1834, he arrived in the United States purportedly on his way to Illinois to inspect land granted by our Congress to the Polish revolutionaries.  As he passed through Batavia, Glowacki stopped here for a night’s rest.  On that occasion, he encountered David Evans who was serving as an agent for the Holland Land Company.

     It is said that Glowacki was unable to speak, read, or write English, but Evans recognized the teenager’s potential and offered him a job in the Land Office if he chose to remain in Batavia rather than continuing on to Illinois.  That job was to copy Land Office records, serving in effect as a human Xerox machine.  Glowacki accepted the offer and, thus, began his long and productive life as a resident of our community.

     Glowacki was obviously a quick learner.  After only four years, he became proficient in the English language.  He was sufficiently proficient to allow him to study law (to “read law,” as the expression goes) in the office of Heman Judd Redfield.  This was a time when one became an attorney, not by going to law school, but by studying law under the supervision of a practicing lawyer.  In only two years, in 1840, Glowacki was admitted to the bar in Rochester.

    Major Henry Glowacki’s successful effort to study law under Heman Redfield may have been prompted by more than just Redfield’s standing as a lawyer.  Redfield also was one of the wealthiest Batavians; and he had an attractive daughter, Mary Judd Redfield.  Henry and Mary were married in 1847.
     As the years passed, Glowacki served as a Village Trustee (the equivalent of a City Council member today), became President of the Board of Education during part of a 9-year stint on the Board, was appointed a Trustee of the New York State Institution for the Blind, and was Chair of the Genesee County Democratic Committee for 10 years.  It appears that Glowacki’s successful efforts to bring stone sidewalks to Batavia came during his service as a Village Trustee.

     Henry and Mary Glowacki invested in property in the community, acquiring considerable amounts of land including areas extending east and north of Summit Street all the way to Bank.  Glowacki property became the land on which the north campus of UMMC is now located.  The land now occupied by the Genesee County Nursing Home was also Glowacki property.  Their home was at 16 Summit Street.  

     The couple had no naturally born children of their own, but they adopted Elizabeth Chandler, a daughter of Mary’s sister and brother-in-law.   Elizabeth Chandler was born in Batavia in 1856.  She later married LeRoy Parker, originally of Flint, Michigan.  They had two sons, Glowacki and Ralph Parker.    Henry Glowacki died in 1895.  His wife, Mary, died in 1908.
     The Glowacki family home at 16 Summit Street eventually became the property of Glowacki and Ralph Parker.  Shortly afterwards, a rather interesting event took place.  In 1918, the brothers separated the rear of the house from the front.  The rear became the structure that now stands at 14 Summit Street while the front remained at 16 Summit.  (It was not an uncommon practice in the early 1900s to divide larger houses into smaller ones.  The most dramatic example in Batavia was the Law Mansion on South Main Street which, in 1904, became three separate houses.) 
     Over the years, Glowacki descendants moved from the area and the houses at 16 and 14 Summit Street passed out of the family.  However, the new owners often continued to be prominent residents of Batavia.  One early example was Robert Scatcherd, who lived at 14 Summit.  For more than 20 years, he held offices with the famous Batavia and New York Woodworking Company, including as secretary, treasurer, and director.

     A closing footnote:  Glowacki was obviously important for more than his success in bringing stone sidewalks to Batavia.  He contributed to our community in many different ways.  And so, in 1978, Polish Falcons of America Nest 493 created a plaque commemorating the life of Major Henry Ignace Glowacki.  It was intended to be mounted on the exterior of 16 Summit.  However, the homeowner refused the plaque.  The unwanted plaque then made its way to the Holland Land Office Museum.  Since that time, it has apparently disappeared altogether.    
